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portrays a bustling port and a sublimely peaceful prospect (Plate 1).! Two of the

most prominent features in the middle distance are St Patrick’s Bridge and the
Navigation Wall that stretched eastwards down the River Lee from the city. The bridge
was only a few years old and had been a long time coming. In an echo of the bitter dis-
putes in Dublin, controversy had raged over the possible effects of a second crossing on
the Lee’s North Channel, but eventually the bridge received statutory authorisation in
1786.2 However, before it was completed it was severely damaged in January 1789 in
the city’s worst floods of the century. Michael Shanahan, the peripatetic architect who
had learnt his trade under the patronage of the Earl Bishop (of Cloyne and then Derry),
was heavily involved. He had recently returned to the city to run a marble and stonecutting
business, but as ‘architect and contractor’ he oversaw the successful completion of the
bridge over the next two years.

The Navigation Wall was also breached in the great flood of 1789. John Hely-
Hutchinson, long-time MP for the city, informed the House of Commons in 1790 that
180ft of walling had been lost, and he pleaded for £1,000 to repair the damage. He had
been one of the city’s representatives in Parliament for almost thirty years (as well as
serving as Provost of Trinity College since 1774), and he was the principal lobbyist for
Cork’s commercial interests in Dublin throughout his political career. Just as his fellow
parliamentarian Edmund Sexton Pery had secured a remarkable flow of public grants to
transform the infrastructure of the city of Limerick, so Hely-Hutchinson obtained many
grants of public money for Cork’s improvement, but the wall was the most visible legacy.
Between 1761 and 1783, £19,500 was allocated by Parliament in ten separate grants to
improve the navigation of Cork Harbour, and nearly all of this was spent on the wall.
However, no further public funding was forthcoming in 1790 in response to the old politi-
cian’s plea.#

The idea of a great wall cast into the tide had, of course, a Dublin precedent in the

THOMAS SAUTELLE ROBERTS’S AQUATINT VIEW OF CORK CITY PUBLISHED IN 1799

1 — Thomas Sautelle Roberts (c.1749-1778), City oF CORK
c.1790 [publ. 1799], mezzotint (detail, see also page 54)
(reproduced by kind permission of the British Library, Maps K.Top. Cork City 1799 © British Library Board)
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Great South Wall piercing Dublin Bay, which was still under construction when the first
round of funds was secured for Cork’s wall. No drawings of this survive, but it seems
that the earliest sections had a stone base 16ft wide, and on top, ‘including the mason-
work and the gravel’, they were 20ft wide. The end result was never going to be as
formidable as Dublin’s Great South Wall, but the context was of course different. Unlike
Dublin Bay, Cork’s upper harbour was sheltered from the extremes of offshore conditions,
but it was menacing nonetheless because of hidden shoals along its ever-busy channel.
By 1760 small commercial vessels, and even lighters, were encountering constant diffi-
culty in reaching the city quays in a timely fashion, what with narrow lines of access,
uncertain shoals, increased silting and the frequently adverse winds.?

Like all such projects, the wall cost far more than its promoters had expected, and
it remained unfinished when Roberts surveyed the scene in the 1790s. The earliest depic-
tion of the structure and its location is in Joseph Connor’s ‘Map of the City and Suburbs
of Cork’ of 1774 (Plate 2). Nevertheless, his image suggests that ships large and small
were clustering along the line of the wall. The project was the subject of recurring par-
liamentary scrutiny, and there was criticism both of procurement and of the excessive
number of overseers, but the quality of the work itself was not challenged. Those involved
in the parliamentary hearings praised the skill of the hundreds of labourers who had learnt
on site to do everything, even the stonecutting, so that qualified masons had not been
required. Its advocates could fairly claim that by 1790, even though it remained unfinished,
‘the shoals have been deepened and partly removed, the ill-effects of contrary winds have
been guarded against, [and] expense and delay injurious to commerce have been dimin-
ished’. A much greater proportion of ocean-going vessels was now docking at the city
quays rather than discharging onto lighters at Passage or Cove (now Cobh). And, in addi-
tion to its practical functions, the wall — ‘its long white line of solid limestone masonry
... very pretty in the sunset’ — had become a promenade for the adventurous. But despite
a flurry of petitions for further grants to complete the project, the latest of them tabled in
the dying months of the Irish parliament, no more public funding was forthcoming after
1783 to extend the wall, and no alternative sources of finance were identified.¢

The wall lay along the south side of the main course of the Lee, starting close to
where the North Channel and the main section of South Channel came together after
flowing through the city, and the route the builders chose was just south of the deepest
channel in the river. Thus the distant expanse of water shown in Roberts” aquatint lying
beyond the wall was something of a backwater. It was fed by a distributary arm of the
South Channel, but most of the ground was marshland, only fully visible at low tide.
Roberts wisely chose to present the panorama at high tide.

The marsh remained a well-watered expanse after the first sections of the wall
were built because there was no link between it and the mainland, and no obstruction
prevented the tide from flowing around the structure. But as the wall grew in length, what
lay beyond became a tempting prospect for development. Since the mid-seventeenth cen-
tury, Cork city had slowly expanded onto mudbanks to the west and east of the old walls,
and by the 1790s the commercial centre of gravity lay firmly east of the medieval city on
privately reclaimed land or on culverted canals, bounded by Grand Parade, St Patrick’s
Street and the South Mall. This long history of reclamation meant that the city’s carpenters
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2 — Joseph Connor,
‘A Map of the City and Suburbs of Cork’, 1774

and masons had a high level of expertise on how to manage alluvial foundations, high-
water tables, and the risk of sudden flooding.”

It is clear that there was a temptation to apply that expertise to the several hundred
acres of marsh beyond the wall. Indeed, large quantities of gravel and silt had already
been deposited there since the beginnings of the project, so a process of piecemeal recla-
mation had begun by default. Thus, in 1780, Cork Corporation, the owners of the tidal
ground, commissioned a survey and plan. Our principal evidence for this is a copy of a
copy (Plate 3). The original survey was presumably lost in the City Hall fire of 1920, but
a copy had been made for the ‘Park Trustees’ dated 1853, and that in turn was redrawn
by W.P. Higgins for publication in the Journal of the Cork Historical & Archaeological
Society in 1929, where it appeared without editorial comment. The cartouche attached to
the plan, however, is quite informative, declaring that it was commissioned by the city
mayor, John Harding, ‘and the committee appointed by Council & Court [of] D’Oyer
Hundred for staking and lotting’ the slob that lay ‘between the North and South Channels’
that belonged to the Corporation, and that it was executed by Sam[ue]l Andrews (Plate
4).8 Such a decision had indeed been taken by the Council, on 3rd March 1780, ‘to stake
the Corporation Slab [sic], at the south side of the Navigation Wall in the river Lee, and
to have a map of the same drawn and marked out into convenient lots for setting’. The
resulting map is dated August of the same year. In the extant version it appears as a some-
what naive piece of work, but Samuel Andrews had been trained by John Rocque and
had been advertising his services as a surveyor and ‘topographer’ since 1760. He had
been employed by the Corporation to produce surveys at various times between 1767 and
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3 — Samuel Andrews, ‘A Map of the Slob belonging to the Corporation of Cork... Aug[us]t 1780’
(copy redrawn by W.P. Higgins, JCHAS, 2nd series, XXXIV, 1929, facing 116)

4 — Cartouche on Andrews’ map

1790, including one of what became the prestigious new city markets beside the Grand
Parade in 1786 (the English Market). But, more to the point, Andrews was the long-serv-
ing ‘engineer’ (in effect, the project manager) of the Navigation Wall for at least nineteen
years (from 1764), and he seems to have combined the roles of hydrographer, clerk of
works and accounting officer. However the ‘architect’ of the wall, at least in the 1780s,
was none other than Michael Shanahan .’
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The plan drawn up by Andrews in 1780 envisaged 42 lots with varying street
frontages. All lots were to be allocated with a plot depth of 150ft, and the new settlement
was to be bisected by ‘a great street ninety feet wide’ that would run from the city end
(the west) towards a small square offering downstream views; the possibility of further
development on the land east of the square was left open. Each lot opened out onto one
of ten ‘cross streets’, and each of these streets was to be 40ft wide. The whole develop-
ment was to be surrounded by a circular quay 50ft wide — something far more substantial
than the Navigation Wall itself, but apparently incorporating it.

There was nothing revolutionary in Andrews’ design and it can be compared with
Dublin Corporation’s 1717 North Lots scheme, planned for the foreshore of Dublin Bay
to the north-east of the port. That had been divided up into 266 units, and Dublin
Corporation undertook to build an outer sea wall, quays and ‘all the streets ... [to] be
walled foundation high’. Lessees were obliged to fill in and build up their lots using rocks
and sand purchased from the Ballast Office. Progress in the Dublin project was very slow
and plans to reclaim the mudflats north of the Tolka (modern Eastpoint Park) had been
abandoned by the 1740s. But eventually — two or more generations later — the lots south
of the Tolka from East Wall and Sheriff Street south to the Liffey began to attract specu-
lative interest — a collateral effect following the decision to locate Gandon’s Custom
House on a site nearby.!?

Maybe it was the sight of the first buildings on these Dublin sloblands that inspired
Cork Corporation in 1780. Or perhaps it was a case of home-grown exuberance in the
months after the winning of Irish ‘free trade’ from London, a time when many Cork mer-
chants were enjoying swollen wartime profits from the boom in military and naval pro-
visioning. And John Harding seems to have been one of the more enterprising Cork
mayors, with a string of other initiatives recorded during his time in office. But if the
Andrews plan was to create a residential rather than a commercial district, was this ini-
tiative an attempt to emulate Limerick’s Newtown Pery? Limerick’s new town may still
have been largely at the planning stage in 1780, but the Pery estate’s ambition that it
become a high-status residential and business district was no secret.!! However, unlike
the situation in Limerick, the haute bourgeoisie of Cork already had an attractive resi-
dential alternative — on the heights overlooking the city, stretching from Sunday’s Well
in the west all the way down to Glanmire, and on the southside above Douglas and
Blackrock. This drift to sites overlooking the city and the river was already well estab-
lished. However, the 1780 plan may simply have been motivated by financial need (as
had been the case in Dublin in the 1710s). A project of this sort promised windfall benefits
to the Corporation if tenants willing to pay large ‘entry’ fines for the marshland lots could
be found, or indeed if outright purchasers could be secured, for the city had a string of
capital projects that were unlikely to be paid for by Parliament (new markets, the new
bridge, street lighting and much else).

The Andrews plan never went any further, although the idea may have circulated
for a few years among the ‘Cork Society for Arts and Sciences’, a shadowy group active
in the 1780s. They commissioned another surveyor, Daniel Murphy, to produce a fresh
map of the city outlining a ‘new modelling of Cork’ (Plates 5, 8). His map appeared in
1789 and came with a series of suggestions for new streets, including one to run from
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Fenn’s Quay west of the old city through Main Street, then via a widening of Paul Street
and Half Moon Street to Coal Quay and cross the North Channel into Shandon. However,
it seems that there was no public money and no local patron to champion such radical
interventions; all the focus at the time was on the completion of St Patrick’s Bridge and
the Navigation Wall.?

But what of the site of the phantom town? In 1792 Samuel Andrews published a
‘Chart of Cork Harbour’ (first advertised back in 1768), but it gave no hint of plans for
the new town, nor was there any sign of development near the wall on William Beaufort’s
1801 map of the city and environs (Plates 6, 7). Very little, it seems, happened until the
creation of Cork Harbour Commissioners in 1814. At that time, near the end of the
Napoleonic Wars, port congestion was more acute than ever, despite major reclamation
and quay development downstream on the north shore of the river (reflecting the impact
of St Patrick’s bridge and the vigorous management of the Penrose estate). The Harbour
Commissioners almost immediately turned to Alexander Nimmo to advise on strategic
port improvement. In his report he questioned whether the Navigation Wall had been of
any benefit to the harbour, although he did advocate an extension of the wall to enclose
the marsh for development. He also made the case for the construction of two ‘wet docks’
on the western end of the marsh, and linked to them he suggested a small network of
streets. Perhaps coincidently, as in 1780, the ‘cross streets’ in his plan were to be 40ft
wide, but the buildings he envisaged were presumably entirely commercial. Most of his
plans also went no further at that time, being rather too ambitious for the Commissioners.!?

However, once they had adequate powers to raise port taxes and to borrow, the
Commissioners did commence a capital programme of quay reconstruction and inten-
sive downstream dredging. The profuse supply of mud and gravel generated by dredging
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6 — William Beaufort,

‘Plan of the City & Suburbs of
Cork according to the latest
Improvements’, 1801

7 — Detail of Beaufort’s map
showing the Navigation Wall
along the North Channel

8 — Reorientated detail of
Murphy’s map (Plate 5)

(dotted lines show proposed
widening of Paul Street leading
round towards proposed new bridge)

opposite

5 — Daniel Murphy, ‘A Survey
of the City and Suburbs of
Cork’, 1789
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hastened the reclamation of the marshland site. Despite Nimmo’s scepticism, the
Commissioners began to strengthen and extend the wall, spending in the region of
£20,000 by 1839 on that specific work so that it extended almost as far as the shore below
Ballintemple, and now enclosed the whole marsh. It took a legal action by Blackrock
property owners, concerned at their loss of access to the river, to halt the wall at that
point. The reformed Corporation in the 1840s followed this up by investing heavily in
draining and new embankments, thereby drying out much of the marsh. The work of these
two agencies is evident on the 6” county map for Cork, published in 1845, at which point
the old marsh had been divided into two halves, the larger western section then called
‘City Park’ (still a treeless expanse), separated from a smaller wasteland to the east
described by the map-makers as ‘mud’.!*

All this activity revived the question of how the newly reclaimed land was to be
used. Over the next three decades there was a long-drawn-out struggle between the
Harbour Commissioners, close to the shipping companies who were on the lookout for
additional dockland space; the reformed Corporation, many of whom were anxious to
create an attractive park for the poorer citizenry and who were at times suspicious of the
‘speculators’ and the shippers; a scientific lobby (linked to the new College), planning
botanical gardens and a zoo on at least part of the site; and railway promoters searching
for the cheapest route to Passage and the lower harbour. There was also a more inchoate
lobby promoting various sports. A tree-lined walk along the river, the Marina Walk, was
laid out on the wall in the 1850s, and boathouses, bathing houses and bandstands began
to appear from that time. In the 1860s the Corporation made considerable efforts to land-
scape City Park (for a while it was renamed Victoria Park). But one sporting interest
trumped the others — that of racing, led by the redoubtable Sir John Arnott. For a while
other sports were accommodated, but from 1869 Arnott’s friends developed and expanded
the great racecourse that for several generations came to dominate the western half of the
site. That indeed remained the case until Henry Ford’s representatives came and success-
fully negotiated the purchase of most of the land from Cork Corporation in 1916.

However, east of the embankment, the old marshland was put to a great variety of
uses — agricultural and sporting — and from the 1890s part of it was leased by the GAA.
They built their first small stadium there in 1898, and have of course remained and estab-
lished their own illustrious primacy on the site while nearly all their neighbours, com-
mercial, industrial and recreational, have come and gone."> And now, in the era of
anticipated rising sea levels, ever more ambitious plans for the development of Cork’s
‘South Docklands’ are in the news once again, complete with skyscrapers and the promise
of ‘an entirely new docklands village’. The will-o’-the-wisp of 1780 still flickers.'
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